RECEIVED

MAY 08 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Civil Action No. 2011-CP-30-1137

Appellate Case No. 2014-002509

Pamela Neighbors and Carroll Neighbors Respondents,

v.

Byron A. Brown, MD and
Laurens County Obstetrics and Gynecology, LLC Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Collie W. "Trip" Lehn, Jr.
Davis, Snyder & Williford, P.A.
5 Hawthorne Park Court
Greenville, SC 29615
(864) 335-3500
Attorney for Appellants

ISSUE

Did the trial court err in admitting into evidence two agreements between Brown and the Medical Executive Committee of Laurens County Health Care System in violation of the peer review confidentiality statute and Rules 402 and 403?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Pamela and Carroll Neighbors filed this medical malpractice action in Laurens County on December 9, 2011 against Byron A. Brown, M.D. and his medical practice, Laurens County Obstetrics and Gynecology, LLC (LCOG), alleging negligence resulting in complications of gynecological surgery performed by Brown on November 24, 2009. Defendants filed an answer denying liability. The case was tried by jury before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr. on July 21-25, 2014. The jury found for Plaintiffs and against Brown and LCOG and awarded Pamela Neighbors \$500,000 in economic damages and \$2,450,000 in noneconomic damages and awarded Carroll Neighbors \$10,000 on his loss of consortium claim.¹ The jury did not find gross negligence and did not award punitive damages. The verdict was reduced in accordance with the South Carolina Noneconomic Damage Awards Act of 2005, S.C. Code §§ 15-32-200 *et seq.*, and on or about October 17, 2014, judgment was entered for Pamela Neighbors in the amount of \$1,115,464.35 and for Carroll Neighbors in the amount of \$10,000.²

Brown and LCOG timely moved for a new trial on the grounds, *inter alia*, that the trial court improperly admitted documents and allowed testimony related to Brown's peer review in violation of the peer review confidentiality statute, common law, and Rules 402 and 403, SCRE. On October 16, 2014, Judge Addy heard argument on Brown's and LCOG's post-trial motions and denied them

¹ Verdict, pp. 3-4, ROA ___.

² Order Entering Judgment, pp. 1-2, ROA ___.

all. On October 22, 2014, Brown and LCOG received written notice of the entry of Judge Addy's order denying their post-trial motions and entering judgment against them. On November 18, 2014, Brown and LCOG timely served a Notice of Appeal.

SUMMARY OF THE FACTS

Pamela Neighbors saw Dr. Brown in October 2009 with complaints of worsening abdominal pain and difficulty urinating.³ A CT scan showed a large fibroid uterus and left ovarian cyst.⁴ Brown examined Neighbors and found that she had a cystocele (anterior prolapse—bladder bulging into the vagina) descending to the hymenal ring, a rectocele (posterior prolapse—rectum bulging into the vagina) descending to the hymenal ring, and cervix descending to the hymenal ring (uterine prolapse).⁵ Brown recommended and Neighbors consented to a total abdominal hysterectomy, anterior and posterior repair (A&P), and placement of a transobdurator sling.⁶ During the surgery, Brown performed a cystoscopy to check the bladder and ureters and found no injury.⁷

Following surgery, Neighbors experienced abdominal pain, bladder spasms, and urine leaking from her vagina.⁸ She saw Brown in his office on December 2, 2009 and complained that she was leaking urine. She reported to Brown that 23 years earlier she had a problem with healing of a surgical wound due to an “allergy” to suture. Brown suspected that she had formed a fistula that

³ Def. Ex. 3, p. 8, ROA __.

⁴ *Id.* at 1-3, ROA __.

⁵ *Id.* at 9, ROA __.

⁶ *Id.* at 8-9, 13, 21-25, ROA __.

⁷ *Id.* at 24, ROA __.

⁸ *Id.* at 29, 34, ROA __.

was causing the urine leakage.⁹ Brown referred her to a urologist, Dr. Mayher, who diagnosed her with a possible vesicovaginal fistula, which was confirmed by CT cystogram.¹⁰ On January 5, 2010, Mayher attempted to surgically repair the fistula.¹¹ After her discharge from the hospital, Neighbors continued to experience bladder spasms and leaking from her vagina, so Mayher referred her to MUSC.¹²

On March 2, 2010, Neighbors saw urologist Dr. Rovner at MUSC. A CT scan confirmed that she still had a vesicovaginal fistula. On March 15, Rovner performed surgery to repair the fistula. Following this surgery, Neighbors complained of pelvic pain and pain with intercourse. On November 15, 2010, Rovner performed a procedure to remove a portion of the mesh placed by Brown. When Neighbors continued to experience pelvic pain, pain with intercourse, and mesh extrusion, Rovner performed another surgery on March 21, 2011 to remove more mesh and the sling.¹³

On December 14, 2009, Dr. Stribling, then Chief of Surgery at Laurens County Hospital, delivered a letter to Dr. Weaver, Chief of Staff, expressing concerns about recent complications resulting from surgeries performed by Brown.¹⁴ Stribling did not refer to Neighbors' case in the letter. Stribling wrote:

As Chief of Surgery, I need to make you aware of a situation that is of great concern to me.

⁹ *Id.* at 34, ROA __.

¹⁰ *Id.* at 43, 46, ROA __.

¹¹ *Id.* at 49, ROA __.

¹² *Id.* at 52-53, 56, 58, ROA __.

¹³ Pl. Ex. 92, ROA __.

¹⁴ Pl. Ex. 36 (Identification only), ROA __.

I worry greatly about what appears to be a continuing pattern of surgical misadventure by Dr. Byron Brown.

To my knowledge, within the last year Dr. Brown has damaged a ureter on 3 separate occasions. He also perforated a colon (twice in the same patient) which lead to tremendous complications.

The first damaged ureter I recall presented with an obstruction of the ureter and I was able to coax a ureteral stent past the damaged area. It is unusual to be able to pass a stent in that manner, but with luck it did go up.

The second case was not so lucky. With great difficulty I passed a stent up what appeared to be the ureter, but the patient kept leaking urine from the vagina. I therefore recommended that she go to MUSC because of the reconstruction that would be needed.

The last case was this past Friday. This was another cut ureter that required a ureteral reimplant into the bladder.

The case with the perforated colon can be better described by Dr. Watkins who repaired that.

The reason this is such a worrisome pattern is that a cut ureter is a fearsome complication. It rarely heals well; often requiring revisions and can result in reflux, scarring, kidney infection/damage, and stone formation. Needless to say this is a terrible injury and has huge implications to the urologist who has to repair the damage.

In nearly 20 years of practice in NC, among multiple gynecologists and numerous general surgeons I had to repair exactly ZERO damaged ureters. This is not an insignificant statement; it is a telling revelation of how careful surgeons and gynecologists are operating in the vicinity of the ureter. They realize what a fearsome injury it is.

Because of what appears to me to [be] a worrisome pattern of complications, I will, as Chief of Surgery, respectfully ask Dr. Brown to temporarily relinquish his privileges to doing all pelvic surgery until the cases can be reviewed by an outside reviewer. If Dr. Brown chooses not to do this I will request an emergency meeting of the MEC [Medical Executive Committee] to decide whether official action should be considered regarding his operating privileges.¹⁵

¹⁵ *Id.* Stribling was mistaken when he stated that Brown had injured three ureters. Stribling later admitted that Brown's partner had caused one of the three ureteral injuries mentioned in the letter.

Stribling's letter initiated a peer review process at Laurens County Hospital. Stribling met with Brown to discuss his concerns and asked Brown to temporarily relinquish some of his surgical privileges pending the outcome of the peer review. Soon thereafter, Brown wrote a letter to Weaver stating, "I would like to temporarily relinquish privileges to perform hysterectomies, anterior and posterior repairs, and urethral slings until the beginning of 2010."¹⁶ On February 17, 2010, Brown and the Medical Executive Committee (MEC) of Laurens County Health Care System (LCHCS) entered into an Agreement whereby Brown voluntarily resigned certain surgical privileges and retained others.¹⁷ The Agreement provided as follows (in pertinent part):

- (1) Brown would not, without first obtaining written permission from the MEC, schedule any surgical procedures at LCHCS, except for C-Sections, Post-Partum Endometrial Ablations and Dilation & Curettages;
- (2) Brown would take a "leave of absence" from his positions as Chair of the Peer Review Committee and Chair of the Department of Obstetrics/Pediatrics until such time as the MEC consented in writing to his return to these positions; and
- (3) Brown would participate in "the MEC's ongoing professional review activity" and would "meet in person with other members of the LCHCS medical staff in order to respond/discuss any areas of concern regarding his clinical proficiency."¹⁸

After the parties executed the Agreement, the MEC continued the "professional review activity" described in the Agreement. However, before the MEC "[took] any action as provided for under Section 10.5 of the Medical Staff Bylaws, the Parties reached an agreement to resolve the

¹⁶ Pl. Ex. 16, ROA __.

¹⁷ Pl. Ex. 17, ROA __.

¹⁸ *Id.*

issues giving rise to the professional review activity,” which was memorialized in an Addendum signed on May 21, 2010.¹⁹ The Addendum provided as follows (in pertinent part):

- (1) Brown “voluntarily resigned” the clinical privileges listed in Attachment 1 to the Addendum (an extensive list of GYN surgical privileges);
- (2) Brown was not entitled to the Fair Hearing Procedures provided for in the Medical Staff Bylaws; and
- (3) Brown and LCHCS (through its MEC) agreed that “the matters giving rise to this Addendum [were] reportable to the National Practitioner Data Bank (“Data Bank”)...and to the South Carolina Board of Medical Examiners...”²⁰

At trial, over Defendants’ objections, Neighbors sought to admit the two agreements into evidence. Neighbors argued that the Agreement and the Addendum were relevant and admissible because the fact that Brown’s surgical privileges were “suspended” pending a peer review process was relevant to his “credibility” as an “expert witness.”²¹ Defendants argued that the two agreements were created and executed as a part of the peer review process and were only provisional agreements, not the final outcome of the peer review, and thus were inadmissible under the confidentiality statute (S.C. Code § 40-71-20) and *McGee v. Bruce Hospital System*.²² The court

¹⁹ Pl. Ex. 18, p. 1, ROA __.

²⁰ *Id.*

²¹ Tr. 400:15-403:8, ROA __.

²² Tr., pp. 395-98, ROA __. The full citation is *McGee v. Bruce Hosp. Sys.*, 312 S.C. 58, 439 S.E.2d 257 (1993).

admitted both agreements (after redacting portions of them), ruling that the agreements were relevant to Brown's "qualifications" and "competency" to give expert opinion testimony.²³

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in admitting into evidence the two agreements between Brown and the Medical Executive Committee of Laurens County Health Care System in violation of the peer review confidentiality statute and Rules 402 and 403.

The "proceedings and all data and information acquired by" a hospital peer review committee are "confidential" and "not subject to discovery, subpoena, or *introduction into evidence in any civil action* except upon appeal from the committee action" (the "confidentiality statute").²⁴ "The overriding public policy of the confidentiality statute is to encourage health care professionals to monitor the competency and professional conduct of their peers to safeguard and improve the quality of patient care."²⁵ All documents generated or acquired by a hospital peer review committee are protected under this law.²⁶

Rule 402 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence provides, "Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible." Rule 403 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence provides, "Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury..."

²³ Tr., pp. 400-03, 414-15, ROA __.

²⁴ S.C. Code § 40-71-20 (emphasis added). This section applies to hospital peer review proceedings and documents pertaining to incidents predating June 26, 2012, the effective date of 2012 South Carolina Laws Act 275 (H.B. 4008), which amended section 40-71-20 and added section 44-7-392 to govern the hospital peer review process.

²⁵ *McGee v. Bruce Hosp. Sys.*, 312 S.C. 58, 61, 439 S.E.2d 257, 259 (1993).

²⁶ *McGee*, 312 S.C. at 62, 439 S.E.2d at 260.

First, the Agreement and Addendum fall within the ambit of the confidentiality statute and were therefore inadmissible because they were generated during a peer review process of the Medical Executive Committee (MEC) of Laurens County Health Care System (LCHCS) initiated by Dr. Stribling when he sent his letter to Dr. Weaver in December 2009. Regardless of how the plaintiffs obtained these agreements during the course of discovery²⁷, the confidentiality statute dictates that they are inadmissible in civil litigation.

Second, the Agreement and Addendum were irrelevant and should have been excluded under Rule 402. The surgical cases Stribling cited in his letter did not include the surgery Brown performed on Pamela Neighbors. Her case was not the reason for, or the subject of, the peer review. In his letter Stribling mentioned three cases involving a cut ureter and one case involving a perforated colon—complications which Neighbors did not have.²⁸ Citing *Ward v. Epting*²⁹, Plaintiffs argued that the agreements, which both stipulated that Brown voluntarily resigned certain surgical privileges, were relevant to the issue of Brown’s “credibility” as an “expert witness.”³⁰ Defendants contended that Brown was *not* an expert witness and did not testify as such. Ultimately, Judge Addy ruled that the agreements were relevant to the issue of Brown’s “qualifications” or

²⁷ Plaintiffs’ counsel obtained the agreements from the Richland County court, where they had been filed in connection with motions in a civil case Brown filed against LCHCS and several individuals for tortious interference and civil conspiracy after the hospital refused to release information regarding Brown’s peer review to several hospitals where Brown had applied for privileges (thus effectively preventing him from obtaining employment elsewhere).

²⁸ Pl. Ex. 36 (Identification only), ROA __.

²⁹ 290 S.C. 547, 556, 351 S.E.2d 867, 872 (Ct. App. 1986) (“Where a physician sued for malpractice testifies as an expert, evidence as to his age, practice, and like matters going to his qualifications as an expert is admissible.”)

³⁰ Tr., pp. 45-46, 400, ROA __.

“competency” (not credibility) to render expert opinion testimony.³¹ This ruling was incorrect because Brown testified as a fact witness, not an expert witness. Brown, now living outside the United States, did not appear for trial. Plaintiffs played for the jury the majority of Brown’s videotaped discovery deposition.³² Brown was not qualified by the defense as an expert in gynecology and did not render expert opinions.

Third, even if the agreements were relevant to the issue of Brown’s qualifications, they should have been excluded under Rule 403 because their probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, and misleading the jury. The peer review had nothing to do with Pamela Neighbors’ case. Yet Plaintiffs, by introducing these documents, gave the jury the false impression that the peer review and the voluntary resignation of surgical privileges which followed had some connection with Pamela Neighbors’ case. These agreements were highly prejudicial (and unfairly so) because one or both of them provided that (1) Brown would not be allowed to perform the type of surgical procedures which he performed on Pamela Neighbors (hysterectomy, anterior and posterior repair, and transobdurator sling)³³, (2) Brown would take a “leave of absence from his positions as Chair of the Peer Review Committee and Chair of the Department of Obstetrics/Pediatrics until such time as the MEC provides written consent to his return to these positions”³⁴—which sounds punitive—and (3) Brown would be reported to the National Practitioner Data Bank and to the South Carolina Board of Medical Examiners—from which one could infer (incorrectly) that Brown’s “peers” had determined that he

³¹ Tr., pp. 400-03, ROA __.

³² Court’s Exhibit 14 identifies the portions of the deposition that were played for the jury.

³³ Pl. Ex. 17, p. 1, ROA __; Pl. Ex. 18, pp. 1, 4-5, ROA __.

³⁴ Pl. Ex. 17, p. 1, ROA __.

had failed to meet the standard of care in performing certain surgical procedures and/or had negligently injured patients.³⁵

Plaintiffs' counsel tried to amplify the impact of these agreements by emphasizing them while cross-examining Defendants' expert, Dr. Taylor, and in closing argument. Mr. Wright examined Dr. Taylor as follows:

Q. Second document, Doctor, is an agreement...And in addition to Dr. Brown only being allowed [to do] C-Sections, post-partum endometrial ablations and dilation and curettages. That is all he could [do] as a gynecologist at Laurens County Hospital, right?

A. According to that agreement, yes.

Q. That is a pretty binding agreement?

A. Yes.

Q. And, Dr. Brown, just happened at the same time to take a leave of absence from his position of the Chair of the Peer Review Committee and Chair of the Department of Obstetrics/Pediatrics, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And, Doctor, would you agree with me that the hospital requiring a physician, a surgeon, to vacate his position as Chair of a Peer Review Committee and a Chair of the Department of Obstetrics and Pediatrics is a drastic step for that hospital to take?

Mr. Snyder: [Objection]

...

The Court: [Overruled]

...

Q. Would you agree that if the hospital required Dr. Brown to take a leave of absence from his position as Chair of Peer Review and Chair of Department of Obstetrics, that would be a drastic move on the part of the hospital?

³⁵ Pl. Ex. 18, p. 2, ROA __.

A. I don't know about the word, drastic. Last time we did something like this it was a substance abuse issue in our hospital. It is a[n] unusual, it is not a common occurrence, no.

Q. That was a bad choice of words, you are exactly right. But it is a serious action?

A. Correct.

Q. ...Now, in addition to that, that is on the 17th of February, there is another agreement on May the 21st, 2010. Do you recall that?

A. I do not.

Q. And this one says that the hospital and Dr. Brown agree that the matters being advised are reportable to the National Data Bank and South Carolina Board of Medical Examiners. Are you familiar with the National Practitioner Data Bank?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. What type makes National Practitioner's Data Bank?

A. Relinquishment of privileges.

Q. While under investigation?

A. Correct.

Q. It also says it is reportable to the South Carolina Board of Medical Examiners. Do you see that?

A. I do.

Q. And any adverse action has to be reported by law to the South Carolina Board of Medical Examiners, correct?

A. Correct.³⁶

³⁶ Tr., pp. 579-81, ROA __.

At the conclusion of Dr. Taylor's testimony, Defendants' counsel moved for mistrial due to the prejudice of the agreements, especially the language referring to the National Practitioner Data Bank and the South Carolina Board of Medical Examiners. The motion was denied.³⁷

At the end of his closing argument, Mr. Wright returned to the agreements and expressly invited the jury to draw erroneous conclusions from them. He argued:

Three weeks after surgery on Ms. Neighbors the hospital required Dr. Brown to give up his privileges of hysterectomy, [a]nterior/posterior repair and urethral slings. The question to you, ladies and gentlemen, if somebody with medical authority thinks he was practicing out of line. On May the 21st the hospital entered into an agreement with Dr. Brown where Dr. Brown had to give up his privileges and right to even perform surgeries in the hospital. All of these surgeries [listed in Appendix 1 to the Addendum] you will have a chance to look at. All of those were exactly what he did on, everything, surgery he did on Ms. Neighbors is included in surgeries that he could no longer perform. Do you think somebody with authority felt like he was operating—

MR. SNYDER: Your Honor, I object. That was a resignation of privileges, the documents did not say that they enforced [sic]. He is arguing things that are not in evidence.

THE COURT: You want to be heard on that, Mr. Wright? I have stopped the clock.

MR. WRIGHT: You and I and Mr. Snyder know exactly what went on and I can draw a reasonable inference.

MR. SNYDER: Objection—

THE COURT: Here is the way we will handle this. It has been argued by both sides that he was various things, it is introduced for purposes for qualifications of the Doctor. But it is in evidence and I will allow it, you may proceed, Mr. Wright.

...

MR. WRIGHT: And Dr. Brown's conduct was to be reported to the National Practitioner Data Bank which is the National Clearinghouse set up by the Federal Government to handle problems with patients. Also it would be reported to the

³⁷ Tr., pp. 601-08.

South Carolina Board of Medical Examiners. Is that practicing out of line? Is that evidence of practicing out of line?³⁸

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