THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Trial Case No. 2011-CP-30-1137

Appellate Case No. 2014-002509

RECEIVED

JUL 06 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Pamela Neighbors and Carroll Neighbors.....Respondents

v.

Byron A. Brown, MD and
Laurens County Obstetrics and Gynecology, LLCAppellants

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Joseph G. Wright, III
McGowan, Hood & Felder, LLC
P.O. Drawer 1778
Anderson, South Carolina
864-225-6228

Attorney for Respondents

I. INTRODUCTION

This is a medical negligence action for damages arising out of negligence of Byron A. Brown, MD in the performance of female surgery on Pamela Neighbors at Laurens Hospital on November 24, 2009. Mrs. Neighbors incurred numerous complications from the surgery. The lawsuit resulted in a jury verdict of \$2,450,000 for Pamela Neighbors and \$10,000 for her husband, Carroll Neighbors. After adjustments for the cap on noneconomic damages and prejudgment interest, judgment was entered for Pamela Neighbors in the amount of \$1,115,464.35 and Carroll Neighbors in the amount of \$10,000. (Verdict and Judgment)

II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A. **Byron A. Brown, MD Negligence – Deviations from the Standard of Care**

Elizabeth Mueller, MD, a board-certified physician in female pelvic medicine and reconstructive surgery and the medical/fellowship director of the division of female pelvic medicine and reconstructive surgery at Loyola University Medical Center in Chicago, Illinois, testified on behalf of Mr. and Mrs. Neighbors. The testimony concerning the background of Dr. Mueller demonstrates that she is imminently qualified. (Tr. page 100, l 11 to page 104, l 8)

Dr. Mueller testified that Dr. Brown was negligent and deviated from the standard of care in several respects:

1. the surgery was not necessary (Tr. Page 107, l 13 to page 119, l 22);
2. the failure of Dr. Brown to obtain consent for implantation of synthetic mesh and the failure to inform Mrs. Neighbors of the risks, benefits, or alternative treatments to synthetic mesh (Tr. Page 121, l 15 to page 126, l, 18);
3. the implantation of the bladder sling was not indicated, was a deviation from the standard of care, and constituted negligence on the part of Dr. Brown (Tr. Page 126, l 19 to page 129, l 4); and
4. the failure of Dr. Brown to address the leaking urine from the vagina of Mrs. Neighbors during the six days following surgery (Tr. page 129, l 10 to page 133, l 8).

Donald Ostergard, MD, a gynecologist with a subspecialty of urogynecology, was teaching interns, residents, and fellows in urogynecology at Harbor, USC Medical Center in Torrance, California, at the time of trial. (Tr. page 192, l 23 to page 193, l 10). Dr. Ostergard is one of the leading experts on the

use of mesh implantation and is also imminently qualified in his field. (Tr. page 193, l 11 to page 196, l 2).

Dr. Ostergard testified that Dr. Brown was negligent and deviated from the standard of care in several respects:

1. the surgery performed by Dr. Brown was unnecessary (Tr. page 197, l 20 to page 199, l 23);
2. the surgical procedures performed by Dr. Brown were below the standard of care (Tr. page 199, l 24 to page 200, l 4);
3. the implantation of synthetic mesh by Dr. Brown was not indicated and was a deviation from the standard of care (Tr. page 200, ll 9-14);
4. the failure of Dr. Brown to obtain consent for implantation of synthetic mesh and the failure to inform Mrs. Neighbors of the risks, benefits, or alternative treatments to synthetic mesh (Tr. page 200, l 15 to page 205, l 1; page 205, l 17 to page 206, l 24);
5. the surgical technique employed by Dr. Brown did not meet the standard of care (Tr. page 206, l 25 to page 207, l 23; page 211, l 16 to page 212, l 6);
6. the implantation of the bladder sling was not necessary nor did Dr. Brown obtain an appropriate informed consent to implant the sling (Tr. page 207, l 24 to page 210, l 19);
7. the removal of the ovaries of Mrs. Neighbors by Dr. Brown was unnecessary and a deviation from the standard of care (Tr. page 213, l 7 to page 215, l 2); and
8. the failure by Dr. Brown to repair the hole that was causing the leaking urine was a deviation from the standard of care (Tr. page 215, l 3 to page 219, l 15).

B. Expert Opinions Given by Dr. Brown

The videotape deposition of Byron A. Brown, MD was taken by counsel for Mr. and Mrs. Neighbors on December 10, 2012. (Court's Exhibit No. 3 ID).

Dr. Brown did not attend the trial and his videotape deposition was played to the jury by the defense except for a few excerpts. During the deposition, Dr. Brown issued a number of opinions on the standard of care, surgical techniques he used, and causation of the injuries to Mrs. Neighbors. Some of the opinions are as follows:

1. the diagnosis of Mrs. Neighbors before surgery was ovarian cyst, pain in location of ovaries, and no diagnosis of endometriosis (Brown Depo Tr. page 53, ll 10-13);
2. the treatment options were discussed and explained to Mrs. Neighbors by Dr. Brown (Brown Depo Tr. page 87, ll 23-25);
3. the benefits of surgery would correct retention problems, eliminate urinary tract infections and expedite the treatment (Brown Depo Tr. page 89, ll 14-19; Brown Depo Tr. page 90, ll 9-129-12);
4. the urodynamic testing was not necessary because there was an obvious cystocele and a kinked urethra (Brown Depo Tr. page 90, ll 5-6);
5. the pain experienced by Mrs. Neighbors and the urinary tract infections could have been caused by the cystocele (Brown Depo Tr. page 91, ll 10-18);
6. the rectocele could cause a potential problem of constipation which may end up causing bowel problems (Brown Depo Tr. page 92, ll 7-10);
7. the anterior portion of the Myopathy graft was properly stitched since it does not have arms (Brown Depo Tr. page 113, ll 3-5);
8. the mesh was put to the appropriate tension by a hemostat or some other instrument between the bladder neck and graft (Brown Depo Tr. page 113, ll 11-25);
9. a leak going between the bladder through the vaginal wall and urine entering the vagina could have potentially shown up in the packing by the fluid being blue (Brown Depo Tr. page 200, ll 2-6);
10. the synthetic mesh used in Mrs. Neighbors was not defective (Brown Depo Tr. pages 94-101);

11. the FDA Public Health Notification (Exhibit 10) was specific to the Bard products and did not apply across the entire mesh field or to mesh used in Mrs. Neighbors (Brown Depo Tr. pages 75-85);
12. Dr. Brown discussed the risks, benefits, and alternative treatments for implantation of mesh with Mrs. Neighbors in compliance with standard of care (Brown Depo Tr. pages 78-80);
13. Mrs. Neighbors had significant cystocele with fairly mobile bladder neck-type issue that was probably kinking the urethra and likely that was cause of retention (Brown Depo Tr. page 20, ll 2-12);
14. Mrs. Neighbors had a 3 level on the Baden-Walker scale because there was a significant amount of prolapse that was kinking the urethra so Mrs. Neighbors could not urinate (Brown Depo Tr. page 35, l 23 to page 36, l 20); and
15. the removal of the ovaries of Mrs. Neighbors was appropriate because of the presence of an ovarian cyst, pain level she was experiencing, and hormone replacement therapy (Brown Depo Tr. pages 48-56).

The opinions given by Dr. Brown involved scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge that are beyond the realm of common experience and which require special skill and knowledge of an expert witness (*Rule 702 SCRE*). The defense presented the testimony of Dr. Brown giving these and other opinions that require specialized knowledge; however, the defense argues that Dr. Brown "testified as a fact witness, not an expert witness". (Initial Brief of Appellants page 12). The general rule is that expert testimony is required in a malpractice case to show that the defendant failed to conform to the regional standard, which is, such reasonable and ordinary knowledge, skill and diligence as physicians in similar neighborhoods and surroundings ordinarily use under like circumstances. *Green v. Lilliewood*, 272 S.C. 186, 192 (1978), 249 S.E.2d 910, 913 (SC 1978). Likewise, the opinions that the physician conformed to the

required standard of care are a matter of specialized knowledge that require expert testimony.

There is no exception in *Rule 702* to allow a witness or medical doctor to render opinions based on specialized knowledge without being treated as an expert witness. (See *Ward v. Epting*, 290 S.C. 547, 351 S.E.2d 867 (S.C. 1986) where the position of Dr. Epting that she was not testifying as an expert, but as a fact witness, was rejected by the court when she testified and gave medical opinions. The court held that cross-examination on issues relating to her credibility is proper.)

In summary, the defense presented the testimony of Dr. Brown which included numerous opinions of a specialized knowledge that required expert testimony under *Rule 702, SCRE*. Further, there is no exception for a physician issuing opinions of a specialized knowledge regarding treatment the physician rendered without being qualified as an expert witness.

III. CROSS-EXAMINATION ALLOWED OF EXPERT'S LIMITED KNOWLEDGE, EXPERIENCE, SKILL AND QUALIFICATIONS

The expert's testimony and opinions can be properly attacked by impeaching the expert on his limited knowledge, experience, skill and qualifications in the area about which he has testified. Any defect in the amount and quality of education or experience goes to the weight to be accorded to the expert's testimony but not to admissibility. *Fields v. Regional Medical Center Orangeburg*, 354 S.C. 445, 452, 581 S.E.2d 489, 493 (Ct. App. 2013).

In the case at bar, Dr. Brown issued expert opinions on standard of care, causation and scientific/medical issues in his videotape deposition; but, he did

not attend trial. In his deposition, Dr. Brown was questioned about his summary suspension of surgical privileges by Laurens Hospital on January 8, 2010. (Brown Depo Tr. page 166, l 10 to page 174, l 11). Counsel for Dr. Brown acknowledged that the results of the change in privileges was discoverable as follows:

..... I think if there is a material change to your privileges, the results Whether it has to do with the peer review or is just for any other matter that isn't peer review, is disclosable and I think you have to answer that question.
(Brown Depo Tr. page 166, ll 10-25)

Dr. Brown was not completely forthcoming in his deposition response to the privileges that were suspended. (Brown Depo Tr. page 167, l 2 to page 168, l 12). Subsequently, Dr. Brown voluntarily agreed to surrender almost all of his clinical privileges in the Agreement with Laurens Hospital dated February 17, 2010. (Exhibit 17).

This Agreement references the summary suspension of Dr. Brown's clinical privileges except for C-Sections, Post-Partum Tubal Ligation, Endometrial Ablations and Dilations and Curettages. The Agreement was heavily redacted by the trial judge. (Exhibit 17 and Court Exhibit 10 ID showing the language redacted).

Dr. Brown was further questioned about his voluntary resignation of clinical privileges in the Addendum dated May 21, 2010. Dr. Brown again was not completely forthcoming in his description of the clinical privileges that were surrendered. (Exhibit 18 [redacted Addendum] and Court Exhibit 11 ID [unredacted Addendum]).

Both the Agreement and the Addendum contained significant suspensions of clinical privileges and subsequent voluntary suspension of clinical privileges which were not disclosed in the deposition testimony of Dr. Brown. Further, included in the clinical privileges that were relinquished were the clinical privileges for the surgeries performed on Mrs. Neighbors, i.e., laparoscopic assisted vaginal hysterectomy, A&P repair, and repair of rectocele. This relinquishment of clinical privileges occurred less than a month after the surgery performed on Mrs. Neighbors by Dr. Brown on November 24, 2009. (See Exhibit 36 dated 12/14/09 marked for ID, but not introduced).

The reasons given by the trial judge for admitting the redacted Exhibit 17 and Exhibit 18 were as follows:

MR. WRIGHT: ... We just want to get the information to the jury that privileges of Dr. Brown were summarily suspended and that he is finally, has no privileges at the hospital or any other hospital in America.

THE COURT: And that is not an unreasonable request for the reasons that are on the record. This goes directly to his competency to offer the opinions in the videotape deposition that he offers. It goes directly to that, directly to the question of his qualifications and the fact that that he had privileges suspended. This is not a minor thing. This is a substantial thing to happen to a doctor. I will be allowing 17 and 18 into evidence for those reasons.

(Tr. page 403, ll 5-17)

The Agreement entered into by Dr. Brown and Laurens Hospital substantially limited the clinical privileges of Dr. Brown. These clinical privileges included the same surgeries that Dr. Brown performed on Mrs. Neighbors less than a month prior to the clinical privileges being suspended.

The videotape deposition testimony of Dr. Brown did not fully disclose the extent of the privileges suspended and relinquished. Since Dr. Brown did not attend trial, then it was necessary to introduce Exhibit 17 and Exhibit 18 which set forth the clinical privileges suspended.

The South Carolina Supreme Court in *McGee v. Bruce Hosp. System*, 312 S.C. 58, 63, 439 S.E. 2d 257, 260 (1993) held as follows:

Furthermore, we conclude that the privilege provided by section 40-71-20 protects documents acquired by the committee as part of its decision-making process. However, we find that the outcome of the decision-making process is not protected. Permitting discovery of the effect of the committee proceedings does not inhibit open discussion. (citations omitted). In our view, the confidentiality statute was intended to protect the review process, but not restrict the disclosure of the result of the process. (citations omitted). Accordingly, the plaintiff is entitled to a listing of clinical privileges either granted or denied by Bruce Hospital.

Thus, evidence of the suspension and relinquishment of clinical privileges of Dr. Brown is admissible evidence.

IV. THE CONFIDENTIALITY STATUTE DOES NOT APPLY TO EXHIBIT 17 AND EXHIBIT 18

Early on in discovery, Judge Addy issued a discovery order dated December 31, 2012. Among other things, the order addressed the South Carolina Confidentiality Statute, *S.C. Code Ann. § 40-71-10 to 30 (1976)*, and the requirement that if a party asserts a claim of confidentiality of any document under the statute, then the party must file the document with the court under seal along with filing and serving a privilege log. The Order also addressed the Consent Confidentiality Order filed in the Richland County lawsuit between Dr. Brown and Laurens County Hospital, et al. (Order of Judge Addy 12/31/12)

The counsel for Dr. Brown in the Richland County lawsuit introduced numerous documents during depositions. Additionally, documents were filed with the Clerk of Court for Richland County as attachments to motions and briefs that were not marked confidential.

Dr. Brown did not identify any documents produced or received by Dr. Brown in discovery in the Richland County lawsuit as requested in Interrogatory 51, nor produce any documents as requested in Request for Production 22

Additionally, Dr. Brown did not file any documents with the court under seal nor file and serve a privilege log.

Since the records of the Clerk of Court of Richland County are public records, counsel for Neighbors obtained numerous documents from the Clerk of Court including Exhibit 17 and Exhibit 18. During discovery in this case, counsel for Dr. Brown objected to the use of documents obtained from the public records. The objections were heard by Judge Addy who issued several pretrial orders on the use of these documents.

The pretrial Order dated September 6, 2013 held, in part, as follows:

Concerning the Peer Review documents obtained by Plaintiff, it appears that the documents were obtained by reviewing the file in the Richland County litigation and by other means which are not suspect. The court finds that the witnesses may be questioned concerning these documents during depositions, however, no ruling has been had concerning whether these documents, or any questions related to these documents, may be used at trial or for impeachment. (Order of Judge Addy 9/6/13)

The pretrial Order dated November 17, 2013 held that Plaintiff could use certain documents during depositions although the ruling "is not a final ruling concerning whether said documents would be admissible at trial." The Court set

forth the reasons for permitting the documents to be used during discovery as follows:

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